
 

2017 1st quarter Presidential Board Minutes 1 

2017 1st quarter 

Presidential Board meeting 

Athens, Greece 

25-26 March 2017 

 

MINUTES 

 

 

At the end of the Agenda on March 26, Mr. Ilyumzhinov raised again the issue of Agon 

debts. 

 

Proposal from Agon – Annex 47B  

 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov said we talked about three debts – his and two of Agon and Iran. He 

said the money will be covered by him. He has already covered his own debt. He 

proposed to announce in a press-release, to suspend our relations with Agon, with two 

weeks to give them as to Iran. If they do not pay the 600,000 plus in two weeks, we 

cancel our relations with Agon. 

 

We defend our budget and our position is clear.  

 

Mr. Makropoulos said this is not only the contract with Agon as he had already told 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov the previous evening. There are several contracts with sponsors. He 

made it clear in Moscow that we have several difficulties in our work, and Mr. 

Ilyumzhinov was supporting the Agon that Mr. Makropoulos should work with them 

and cooperate with them. It will be a huge problem legally. Mr. Makropoulos said he 

did not want to go into this game, after their private discussion they had the previous 

evening. He did not agree at all with Mr. Ilyumzhinov’s proposal and he could not 

support this proposal. He said he did not care who can get Agon, FIDE, Kirsan or 

Kirsan’s friends. This is not legal. He said he is completely against, he told Mr. 

Ilyumzhinov this was his position the previous evening. He said that Mr. Ilyumzhinov 

is putting FIDE in a difficult situation.  

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov disagreed and said he was defending the FIDE budget. His proposal is 

very simple. We have time to wait from Agon, it is a commercial structure. He said 

why we impose two weeks on Iran, and not on Agon? He said that Agon has not paid 

since November. The attitude of FIDE should be equal. Iran is our member. And Agon 

is a commercial structure. In Mr. Ilyumzhinov’s opinion this will even help Mr. 

Merenzon who can go to the banks now and try to secure the money. He said they had 

more time than Iran.  

 

Mr. Makropoulos said we decided that the working group will speak to Agon to discuss 

how this money shall be paid. He said it is not fair. He said this is Mr. Ilyumzhinov’s 

personal interest. He said that last night Mr. Ilyumzhinov proposed to take Agon for 

the two of us. He said he did not agree with this mentality. Mr. Makropoulos said Mr. 

Ilyumzhinov’s problems with Agon should be his personal problems. FIDE has to stick 

to the contract with Agon and other partners and we should respect them. Everything 

should be legal. If Mr. Ilyumzhinov has a personal fight with Agon, this is not for 

FIDE to be involved.  He said he did not want to be the owner of Agon. He asked the 

President to read the contract. He asked Mr. Ilyumzhinov to stop this game. He also 

http://www.fide.com/images/stories/NEWS_2017/FIDE_News/1st_PB_2017/Annex_47B.pdf


2 2017 1st quarter Presidential Board Minutes  

said that the Board decided the previous day that Treasurer and Mr. Gelfer will meet 

and discuss with Agon how this money should be paid. He said in his opinion this 

money should be paid. He said he was out of the game of who and how takes Agon. He 

said for him this is dirty and he could not follow this game. He said he was insisting 

that the Board followed the decision of the previous day.  

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov said Agon is playing games, not him.  They are trying to use FIDE. He 

said he told Mr. Makropoulos the previous evening about a difficult situation with 

Agon and Grand-Prix. Last year we approved the contract with Agon and new cycle of 

Grand-Prix with new provisions. He said why some players paid 100,000 euro and 

some paid 15,000 euro. 

 

Mr. Makropoulos said this was not a decision of FIDE that players have to pay 

$100,000. He said it was bargaining and players have to speak to Agon.  

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov said he spoke to GM. Inarkiev and he said he  was ready to pay this 

amount, and his republic is ready to pay more. He asked them to pay $500,000 for GM 

Inarkiev and this money will help FIDE. He informed Mr. Merenzon who took part in 

these negotiations when he asked for this amount. President of Ingu shetia met with Mr. 

Ilyumzhinov and the mayor of Moscow was there and they said that they can pay for 

the player from Moscow. In December a contract was supposed to be signed between 

Agon and Ingushetia. Agon asked $500,000 from us but another player paid only 

$15,000. What is this game? He asked Merenzon who said he had negotiations with the 

Russian Chess Federation. He said he spoke to Mr.  Filatov and Mr. Gluhovsky and 

they said that they agreed to pay $15,000 to Agon. Mr. Filatov told Mr. Ilyumzhinov, 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov if you find some crazy people foolish guys, let them pay to FIDE, but 

he, Mr. Filatov, is not crazy, he made an agreement with Mr.Merenzon and the Russian 

Chess Federation will pay for GM Nepomniatchchi only $15,000 and for another player 

another $15,000. Mr. Merenzon said these are the private discussions with Mr. Filatov. 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov said he had met with Ingushetia and their businessmen and explained 

this decision. He told them he wants to help Agon. And after that he paid for GM 

Inarkiev $100,000 from his pocket and his friend also paid.  

 

He said GM Radjabov and Agon agreed about the payment of only $40,000. Mr. 

Merenzon destroyed this market as many players were calling Mr. Ilyumzhinov and he 

was confirming to them the amount. Why is i t different for players? He said he was 

defending FIDE budget.  

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov said he told the Board the previous day that Agon can go to FIDE, but 

nobody wants to take Agon. Every time he helps Mr. Merenzon, he found sponsors in 

Geneva, and Moscow and he found the money in Sharjah. His proposal is very simple. 

These are not games. 

 

Mr. Vega said his position about Agon is equally known and he has always asked to 

check the contract and cancel this. He was not a legal expert and  he does not know the 

consequences of what can happen. 

Mr. Vega said he was very glad that Mr. Ilyumzhinov said this. He did not know if two 

weeks are enough. We have to check with lawyers what may happen and what is 

necessary to be done if we decide to cancel the contract. He will be personally very 

glad if the contract is cancelled. He was not considering the motivations about Grand -

Prix, New York etc. His problem is they do not pay.  



 

2017 1st quarter Presidential Board Minutes 3 

 

Mr. Makropoulos said it is strange that Agon is not here as they are our partners. They 

should defend their position. He said that Mr. Ilyumzhinov told him different things the 

previous night. Mr. Makropoulos told Mr. Ilyumzhinov that he did not want to be an 

owner of Agon, and also he did not want Mr. Ilyumzhinov to be an owner of Agon.  

 

Mr. Al Hitmi said we should give them a strong warning. Two weeks is too short. We 

have to get answers about everything and what Mr. Ilyumzhinov was telling yesterday. 

He said he thinks there are two questions. Has Agon done well? No. but to break the 

relationship – we give them a warning, with the lawyer or a WCOC, they have to 

answer and report to the Board and we take another decision. He was sure there is a 

way that they did not perform well, we break this.  

 

Mr. Gelfer said we have to see in detail, about procedures . He fully agreed that they 

should pay the New York share immediately, the event finished long time ago. The 

500,000 Euros is a different matter. But there is a decision we have to respect which 

we took yesterday. We have to sit with them, and a solution h as to satisfy the 

Treasurer, in two or three weeks, whatever it takes. He will be happy if the Treasurer is 

happy. 

 

Mr. Borg said the actual contract allows an immediate termination in case of the 

failure. We can terminate immediately. The clause is very clear. Mr. Merenzon knows 

he is in infringement. He said if we want to break, it is another issue. He continues the 

same policy from each tournament. He asked Dr. Siegel to insist that every event Agon 

organizes you have to guarantee the amounts which are in contract. We are retaining 

Agon because they are trying to build a marketing strategy. Realistically we can 

terminate, and the appointed Committee has to set up a deadline for payments.  

 

Mr. Makropoulos reminded about the FIDE interface – himself and Mr. Freeman who 

signed the contracts with Agon and accepted the decisions with Agon. He said they two 

would be immediately responsible, legally. His point to all the Board members was not 

if we can terminate the contract in case Agon does not pay. He said thi s is a game what 

is going on today. Mr. Merenzon told Mr. Makropoulos the previous evening that Mr. 

Ilyumzhinov was threatening that the contract will be cancelled if Mr. Merenzon will 

sign an agreement giving 50% of Agon to Mr. Ilyumzhinov . Mr. Ilyumzhinov proposed 

to Mr. Makropoulos the previous evening to give ten days to pay the outstanding 

500,000 euro to FIDE and because Mr. Merenzon will be unable to do it, then to cancel 

the contract and then both of us will be the owners of  Agon. Mr. Makropoulos told him 

he could not support and accept this game and reminded Mr. Ilyumzhinov of legal 

implications. Mr. Makropoulos said he did not want to come to such a disagreement 

with Mr. Ilyumzhinov. But he cannot allow anybody to play games and he did not want 

to play this game. Of course we should get the money from Agon. The other game is 

dirty and Mr. Makropoulos will be against this as much as possible.  

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov said that the members know him. He does not want an outsider like 

Merenzon or Kasparov, play game with FIDE or with us. He does not want anybody to 

create intrigues between us. We know each other for 22 years. He asked Mr. 

Makropoulos why he is trying to defend Mr. Merenzon who came to FIDE only the 

previous year? He said for 22 years he has been  trying and paying money from his 

pocket to FIDE. He said he tried to cover his debt, He tried to repair my problems. He 

said he was honest, he has never taken money from FIDE. In Baku he only asked the 



4 2017 1st quarter Presidential Board Minutes  

stipend as a principal. He has never been a member of  the Appeals Committee. Three 

years he helped Agon and covered 3mln for Candidates and Grand Prix. He has saved 

Agon. And now he was only asking for his proposal to be supported. Mr.Ilyumzhinov 

said he agreed with Mr. Al Hitmi two weeks is too short, but w e gave two weeks to 

Iran. So two weeks to cover the debt of the New York match. And we will give him one 

month to cover the 500,000 Euros according to the contract. We have a signed contract 

with Agon. He said he defend them and cover their debts. He promi ses to me as well, 

and many times he would cover the debts. This is a very simple issue and his proposal. 

He will collect money for Grand Prix.  

 

Mr. Makropoulos said his problem is the game behind. He did not want to support the 

scandal where Mr. Ilyumzhinov was trying by threatening Agon to take Agon. He said 

he had told only 10% of the whole story. The problem is not that Agon has to pay. He 

said that three months ago Mr. Ilyumzhinov informed him that there will be a new 

Chairman for Agon. The problem is that Agon does not want to give to Mr. 

Ilyumzhinov the part of the money he thinks Agon is making. He said there is a 

problem here as how a person can pay the money to FIDE and at the same time to pay 

money to the President. Mr. Makropoulos said he feels very sorry for Mr. Ilyumzhinov. 

He is desperate for money. Political mistakes of Abkhazia and other kind are the result 

of this situation. He cannot push FIDE into what we should not be involved and what is 

not correct and not legal.  

 

Mr.Makropoulos was insisting to go on that Siegel and Gelfer have to meet with Agon.  

 

Mr. Azmaiparahshvili said we all share the same opinion about Mr. Merenzon, we do 

not trust him. He does not say the truth many times. From the other point, we have to 

respect his work. The question is not about Agon. Agon has to give money to FIDE as 

soon as possible. And we trust Treasurer and Mr. Gelfer to discuss this issue with Agon 

and to ensure that this is done very quickly otherwise another measure should be 

thought of and implemented, e.g. a red card. The problem is much more, and he is very 

sorry about this fight between President and Deputy President. If somebody said to Mr. 

Ilyumzhinov about the game and you did something wrong, you have to answer. If it is 

true or not. It is a very painful discussion. It is out of Agon. Nothing to do with Agon.  

 

Mr. Ncube said we are reaching a very bad situation where this is a question of 

hearsay, and things said in private. We were not present there.  

He said he did not want part of this.  

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov said this was very simple. He knows Mr. Makropoulos for 22 years 

and Mr. Merenzon only 2 years. When Mr. Merenzon told Mr. Makropoulos that Mr. 

Ilyumzhinov was asking from him some money, 50% or more Mr. Ilyumzhinov agreed 

that Mr. Merenzon is right, this is true. Mr. Ilyumzhinov agreed and he would inform 

about all our relations, this is another discussion. Mr.Ilyumzhinov asked for money 

which his friend and the bank officially transferred to Agon and there are bank 

documents. And now when the Bank learnt that Agon has problems, and this is known 

to the bankers in Moscow. And people ask Mr. Ilyumzhinov where the money is. And 

he replies to them as to FIDE, all various things. People tell Mr. Ilyumzhinov we 

cannot control the money we give to Agon.  Mr. Merenzon shows the budget of the New 

York match, they were in shock, even Mr. Filatov was in shock when he saw amounts 

for security and cakes. Mr. Filatov said he could have bought a hotel in New York if he 

had this money. He gave more details of his relations with Agon. Why does only one 



 

2017 1st quarter Presidential Board Minutes 5 

person collect money, decides on every financial aspect, in a commercial structure. Mr. 

Ilyumzhinov said he did not want to take money from Mr. Merenzon. He asked Mr. 

Merenzon to show bank accounts etc. Mr. Ilyumzhinov told Mr. Merenzon he is not a 

chess player. Before Agon he did not know chess players. Mr. Ilyumzhinov said he had 

introduced Mr. Merenzon into the chess world. He said he wants Mr. Merenzon to be 

open financially. If Mr.Merenzon owes these 3mln, to Mr.I lyumzhinov and his friends, 

he should transfer. In December Mr. Ilyumzhinov had to yell at Mr.Merenzon in his 

office, and called Mr. Makropoulos. Mr. Merenzon told Mr. Ilyumzhinov that he had 

covered all debts.  

 

Dr. Siegel said we are at the moment where we have to stop this discussion, as we hear 

accusations and the person who is accused is not here and cannot defend himself. This 

is not the way it should be handled. As the Treasurer, he needs a decision today how 

we will handle it, and he would like to follow Mr.Makropoulos’ recommendation that 

the Sub-Committee will meet Mr. Merenzon and we will discuss how we will get the 

money for FIDE. Second recommendation is if you have any questions, that we have to 

address to Mr. Merenzon, please send them by emai l and we will have a look, if we can 

deal with this. We also have to consider that Agon does not belong to FIDE and it is a 

private company and we cannot come and ask about their accounts, we can only work 

along the lines of our collaboration. 

 

Mr. Makropoulos said he had said it was true and he did not lie and this is the most 

important decision. Mr. Ilyumzhinov is not really involved in the decision -making 

procedure since last December and suddenly he woke up and he pushes a decision. Mr. 

Makropoulos said he respects Mr. Ilyumzhinov and what he had done for chess. The 

most important thing is to follow the Board decision. Mr. Makropoulos said he should 

not continue speaking as it will get worse. We have a proposal of Mr. Ilyumzhinov and 

the Board decision of the previous day. He proposed a vote.  

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov said that according to Mr. Makropoulos he was sleeping until 

December. Mr. Makropoulos replied that he did not say this. Mr. Ilyumzhinov said he 

worked every day in Moscow and also with Agon. If he would be sleeping, we would 

not organize the Candidates tournament in Moscow. He met when it was difficult to 

organize Candidates’ tournament with the chief of administration of Putin and Peskov, 

who is Chairman of the Russian Chess Federation.  

 

Mr. Vega said he is the eldest person present at the meeting, He wanted to speak as an 

old man. We should stop the discussion now. We do not want to see the harsh exchange 

between President and acting President or Deputy President, it is not good for FIDE. 

He believes that most of the Board members heard the same as him. We have two or 

three different things. Agon and Iran is not the same. Second – Agon must pay, it is 

very clear. Third- he said he was not interested in motivation of Mr. Merenzon why he 

does things, for him it is clear that there is a difficult situation between Mr. 

Ilyumzhinov and Mr. Merenzon, but this is a Russian affair. It cannot be solved here, it 

should be solved in Moscow. 

 

Mr Al Hitmi said we formed the Committee and we gave them a guideline t o have a 

timetable and we give them one month or we go to Mr. Ilyumzhinov’s proposal and 

terminate the contract.  

 

Mr. Makropoulos said the Committee should speak with Agon. He did not agree that 



6 2017 1st quarter Presidential Board Minutes  

only month should be given to Agon to complete for payments. We should make sure 

they will pay. The Committee should understand the problems and present how they 

see the solution. Our lawyers should give their advice so the Board understands legal 

problems. And the Committee should present a solution and the Board w ill decide if it 

is happy with the Committee’s recommendation or wants to change it.  

 

Mr. Al Hitmi said we have two cases Agon vs FIDE officially where Agon had failed to 

pay FIDE. Mr. Ilyumzhinov vs Agon is another thing. Why cannot Mr. Ilyumzhinov 

take over Agon? Why not? 

 

Mr. Makropoulos said it is dirty, and Mr. Borg knows this discussion very well. We are 

facing a situation when Mr. Ilyumzhinov is focusing on debts of Agon to win the Agon. 

He said he was not going to help Mr. Ilyumzhinov in something l ike this as this is 

dirty. He is asking the Board members to be honest.  

 

Mr. Al Hitmi said the Committee should make a report tonight.  

 

Mr. Borg said we do not want a legal position. We want from Mr. Merenzon first of all 

to accept that he has to pay. You have to get something in writing. He has to accept 

things in writing. Acceptance of debts. If yes, how he can pay.  

 

Mr. Makropoulos said my accusations are very serious. He said the discussion should 

not be switched to another direction. He said he made very serious accusations and Mr. 

Ilyumzhinov actually said that Mr. Makropoulos was right.  

 

Mr. Kutin said we are not very lucky with court cases. We should take care. He did not 

see the reason not to trust the Treasurer. He supported Treasurer’s proposal.  

 

Ms. Marinello said first we should never personalize issues. Secondly she seconded 

Mr. Vega’s comments that FIDE board members open disagreements are not good t o 

us. The three people in the subcommittee are competent and we trust them. But we 

share the same issues of trust for Mr. Merenzon. The point is to get payment and 

protect ourselves legally, and to make sure Mr. Makropoulos and Mr. Ilyumzhinov 

overcome their differences.  

 

Mr. Sundar said that supposingly Agon said that they had paid the President an d says 

we have no money to pay to FIDE, what will we do. He said how can we take this for 

granted. He said Agon is responsible to pay to FIDE and they have to make all the 

efforts to make this money available. The Committee should make sure this money is 

paid. But we should have a deadline, without a deadline it is not correct.  

 

Mr. Makropoulos said the effort here is to give a deadline in order to cancel the 

contract, this is what it is about.  

 

Mr. Makropoulos said Mr. Ilyumzhinov has a very strong persona l interest and he 

should not be allowed to deal with Agon. He said in other organisations for something 

like this someone would have been asked to resign immediately and we are pretending 

nothing is happening. 

 

Mr. Sundar said it was wrong to have any business with somebody who is connected to 

FIDE. 



 

2017 1st quarter Presidential Board Minutes 7 

Mr. Makropoulos proposed that Mr. Ilyumzhinov should be out of this discussion and 

FIDE will have the Treasurer and Mr. Gelfer and then we decide what we want to do 

with Agon. 

 

Mr. Azmaiparashvili said that if a businessman knows we are so weak that we cannot 

even cancel the contract, they will try to postpone payments if there is not any 

deadline. 

 

Mr. Makropoulos said that our Committee will explain to Agon that if the money is not 

paid, the contract will be cancelled. 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov said he is proposing now and said why you trust Mr. Merenzon and 

not him.  He said he asked money from Mr. Merenzon to FIDE and asked money for 

him personally. We should give them a concrete deadline.  

 

Mr. Makropoulos said no, the money was asked for Mr. Ilyumzhinov personally and 

Mr. Borg knows this very well.  

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov said this is not dirty games. He said he had been working for FIDE 22 

years. He was critizised that he had met with dictators, and he work only for chess. He 

has spent so much money on chess as chess is his life. He said how can you accuse me 

now of playing dirty games. Why do you believe Mr. Merenzon and what he has said.  

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov said he was working to organize Candidates next year. He can talk to  

my friends the next day, and his friends will send the papers. If you do not trust him, 

he did not play any dirty games. He said 100% to FIDE not 50% to him. He said that if 

you are saying that I am playing dirty games I am ready to announce that I resign  or 

postpone my work as FIDE President before Agon covers the debt. I want to show that 

FIDE is strong and the Board has its own opinion.  

 

Dr. Siegel said we heard a lot of emotions. He thinks we heard different proposals and 

he suggest that we decide first, if we give deadlines for payment, then we do not need 

meetings with Agon. The other way is that we build a group of three persons to discuss 

with Agon in next weeks and come with a plan when the payment be done. He said Mr. 

Makropoulos should not be involved. He suggested Mr. Azmaiparashvili as well.  

 

Mr. Borg said he did not care what Mr. Ilyumzhinov wants to do with Mr. Merenzon. 

We have to work ultimately on the FIDE interest.  

 

The Committee should speak to Agon the same day.  

 

Mr. Gelfer said the money from Agon should be coming to FIDE, they have to pay first 

to FIDE and not to Mr. Ilyumzhinov. He said he supported Mr. Azmaiparashvili and 

Mr. Vega to stop this discussion as it is not helping. He told Mr. Ilyumzhinov that what 

we are deciding, it is not against his proposal it is a different proposal on the same 

issue. He said we need maximum two months. The settlement should satisfy the 

Treasurer and the Board. The cancellation of the contract – we should be strict and we 

come to cancellation of the contract, we need advice of the lawyer. It is not simple. 

And we will report to the Board on how we proceed.  

 

Mr. Siegel said we need to pay prize fund to the players soon.  



8 2017 1st quarter Presidential Board Minutes  

Mr. Al Hitmi said we had enough discussions, and to be fair to the Board we appoin ted 

the Committee to meet with Agon the same night, but if we cannot make a decision 

when we are present, we cannot make a decision after. Mr. Al Hitmi said he was 

expecting Treasurer to inform us about the actions taken and the timeline. The steps 

have to be clear to all of us. 

 

Dr. Siegel and Mr. Gelfer agreed. 

 

Mr. Makropoulos said we have a contract and everything is described there. Also, there 

is an interface which is involved. He did not want to be involved  with the negotiations 

and he wanted to give a chance to others to participate. The interface can act 

immediately based on the Committee’s decision and even cancel the contract. 

Negotiations should be one week . Mr. Siegel said the time might be longer.  

 

If it can be completed the same night, it is even better. 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov : “Ok, we are FIDE, we are the highest board, all Members of the Presidential 

Board. Why we can’t not decide – give him six months or one year to cover the debt of FIDE.”  

 

Mr. Makropoulos : “Because I said Kirsan I don’t want to help you to blackmail them. I say clearly 

this and Geoffrey he knows very well what I say. He was present in the meeting with you. Until 

now I was using only my argument. I will start using that have been present who know what has 

been going on.” 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov: “No, no, officially I say if you think something yesterday only I say that if 100% 

my friend pay this 500,000 for FIDE….” 

 

Mr. Makropoulos: “I know personally. Your friend that wants to buy Agon, Kirsan, I know, you are 

talking alone for three hours. Your friend he wants to buy Agon, you want to sell Agon to 

somebody, we know this.” 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov : “Please, please” 

 

Mr. Makropoulos: “I propose, I’m asking the Board to stop this meeting. It will go worse I’m telling 

you. If I continue talking it will go worse. 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov : “Please, please, 100% …” 

 

Mr. Makropoulos: “If the board agrees, I propose to stop the meeting. You agree. Thank you” 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov: “Now I want to talk about sponsorship for Candidates matches. Now also I stop 

all sponsorship for Candidates matches.” 

 

Mr. Makropoulos: “Now you threaten FIDE Kirsan.” 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov : “Not threaten. Because my friend ask can they pay debt for FIDE.” 

 

Mr. Makropoulos: “Don’t be involved in this money business Kirsan. This is what I’m telling you.” 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov: “What business? What business? 22 years I helped for FIDE, 22 years. I have 

money, money. In Saloniki, in Saloniki, in Saloniki, who organised Grand Prix ? me…. 



 

2017 1st quarter Presidential Board Minutes 9 

 

Mr. Makropoulos: “Now because of the money you are losing control of yourself Kirsan. In money 

talking and political talking” 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov: “What money? I paid money and control money” 

 

Mr. Makropouolos: “All the accusation against the United States and all these problems” 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov: “What this is …” 

 

Mr. Makropoulos: “Really Kirsan I don’t want to fight.” 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov: “Please. When in Saloniki, every time when I organise, I pay this money. That is 

why this warning not of me, it is warning of bank, and warning of FIDE, because now he promised 

tomorrow, next month…. 

 

Mr. Makropoulos: “Thank you very much for coming…” 

 

At that moment Mr. Makropoulos stood up to leave the room. 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov: “22 years I work for FIDE, I defend interest of FIDE. All 22 years I pay money. I 

ask my friends and because FIDE is my life and I don’t play these dirty games when somebody who 

knows you two years ago, Merenzon, and he plays some intrigues. This is my. Agon not pay money 

for me. I paid for Agon. I organised in Saloniki. Everywhere I organised. In New York I organised. 

Everywhere I organised and now they accused me that I play some game. What game. This is game, 

papers, money, 100s dollars, million dollars, which I transferred for FIDE. When FIDE 1995 had 

very big problem 100.. 150 thousand debt for Swiss bank, Campomanes asked me. That time, I not 

President of FIDE. I gave. In 1994 when Kasparov came to me in Moscow, he said to me, In Athen 

Makropoulos cannot, eh, eh, Makropoulos not, the Greek Chess federation couldn’t organise Chess 

Olympiad in Athens, you remember 1994. And And 1st September Kasparov and Andrey Makarov, 

President of Russian Chess Federation on behalf of Greek Chess federation, came to me to 

Kalmykia, President of Kalmykia, and asked Kirsan, 94, I wasn’t president of FIDE, and they asked 

one million dollars, Kirsan please help, we should organise General Assembly, Congress, please 

give money for General Assembly, and please organise chess Olympiad in Moscow. Hotel, Cosmos 

Hotel, and I took money, one hundred thousand dollars, from the bank. I gave to Kasparov and to 

Makarov by cash and one million US  dollars 94 September I transferred to the organizing 

committee of Moscow, 94. I was elected November 95. I wasn’t FIDE President but I tried to help 

FIDE. 

 

Mr. Al Hitmi: “Mr President, as a Board member we are very grateful for your history for your 

support for the last.. during the last 22, 25 years you have been president here. We are truly grateful. 

And I wish that such a discussion never took place.” 

 

Mr. Ilyumzhinov: “I resign….. I resign. (In the background) I work for FIDE 22 years, 22 years, 

and now accused of some … who accused me of playing dirty games…. I spent hundred millions, 

my parents said I am crazy. Yes I am crazy because I trusted Makropoulos. Everybody I trust….. 

Thank you. Thank you. Thank you my friends. Everybody. Thank you. If somebody ask me I help 

to all Federations. All Federations. I cover Agon. Everybody. I cover all money. If you want to help 

Turkey. All Federation, I help directly but without these guys. 

 

Mr. Freeman : “The meeting is over”. 


